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OPINION

Thelitigation underlying thisinterlocutory gppeal arisesfrom allegationsmade by defendant
Ricky White' (White) that the plaintiffs Jerry Walker and wife, Opal Walker (the Walkers) had filed
for bankruptcy, hidden assetsand perpetuated afraud on the FarmersHome Administration (FmHA),
an agency of the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), in connection with a debt
settlement agreement. During the course of the USDA investigation of these allegations, the
Inspector General of the USDA issued subpoenas duces tecum to the defendant Citizens Bank of
L afayette (Bank) in December of 1993, requesting thefinancial recordsof the Walkersand their real
estate corporation. The Wakers filed a motion to quash the subpoena of their personal recordsin
the U.S. District Court for the Middle District of Tennessee?> The court ordered the USDA to
disclosethe nature of the law enforcement investigation of the Walkers, and the Walkers withdrew
the motion.®

The Walkers subsequently wereindicted and arrested on chargesthat they

1Ri cky White was a consulting engineer to the City of Lafayette when Mr. Walker was elected to Lafayette’s
City Council in 1990. According tothe Walkers' amended complaint, in July of 1992, White was replaced by a four
totwo vote. Mr. Walker wasamong those council membersvotingto replace White with acompeting engineering firm.
In December of 1992, White allegedly contacted the FmHA, stating that Walker was defrauding creditors and the
bankruptcy court by transferring real property to family members. It was later determined that Walker had not filed for
bankruptcy. The complaint against W hite includes:

Count One: Malicious Prosecution
Count Two: Common Law Procurement of Breach of Contract and Business Relationship
Count Three: Violation of Tenn. Code Ann. 8 47-50-109

2Section 3410 of the Right to Financia Privacy Act of 1978 (RFPA) provides for customer challenges of a
subpoena. The section mandates that such challenges “ shall be filed in the appropriate United Statesdistrict court” and
that “[t]he challenge procedures of this title constitute the sole judicial remedy available to a customer to oppose
disclosure of financial records pursuant to thistitle.” 12 U.S.C.S. § 3410 (a),(e)(2002).

3The RFPA provides, in pertinent part:

A Government authority may obtain financial records under section 1102(2) [12 U.S.C.S. § 3402(2)]
pursuant to an administrative subpena or summons otherwise authorized by law only if-

(1) there isreason to believe that the records sought are relevant to a legitimate law enforcement
inquiry;

(2) acopy of the subpenaor summonshasbeen served upon the customer or mail ed to his last known
address on or before the date on which the subpena or summons was served on the financial
institution together with the following notice which shall state with reasonabl e specificity the nature
of the law enforcement inquiry . . ..

12 U.S.C.S. § 3405 (1) (2) (2002).



knowingly and willfully ma[d]e or caused to be madefal se, fictitious and fraudulent
statements and representation in an Application for Settlement of Indebtedness,
submitted to the Farmers Home Administration, in that [they] concealed and did not
discloseon the Application variousbusiness and real estate assetswhich they owned
or maintained constructive title, ownership and possession thereof. In violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1001 and 2.

A criminal trial of the Walkerswas held in January of 1998. According to the Walkers' amended
complaint, they had not in fact filed for bankruptcy and the action against them was dismissed on
January 27, 1998.*

InJanuary of 1999, theWakersand Waker & Assoc. brought suit agai nst the Bank, alleging,
inter alia, violations of the RFPA and the Tennessee Financial Records Privacy Act (the Tennessee
Act).> OnJune 22, 2001, the Bank filed amotion for summary judgment which the court denied as
to all issues but one.® In October of 2001, thetrial court granted the Bank’s motion for permission
to seek an interlocutory appeal of its ruling denying the Bank’ s motion for summary judgment and
entered a stay pursuant to Tenn. R. App. P. 9. The Bank’s application for permission for
interlocutory appeal was granted by this Court on October 26, 2001.

I ssues Presented for | nterlocutory Appeal
This Court granted permission for interlocutory appeal of the following issues:

(1) Do state courtshave subject matter jurisdictionto entertain the Plaintiff’s
claims asserted under the Federd Right to Privacy Act of 19787

4AIthough thereisno transcript of these proceedingsin the record before thisCourt, the Bank does not dispute
that the action against Walkers was dismissed.

5I n their amended complaint, the Walkers allege:

Count One: Malicious Prosecution (Jerry and Opal Walker v. Ricky White)

Count Two: Common Law Procurement of Breach of Contract and Business Relationship (Jerry and
Opal Walker v. Ricky White)

Count Three: Violation of T.C.A. 47-50-109 (Jerry and Opal Walker v. Ricky White)

Count Four: Common Law Procurement of Breach of Contract and Business Relationship
(Corporate Plaintiff v. Ricky White)

Count Five: Violation of T.C.A. 47-50-109 (Corporate Plaintiff v. Ricky White)

Count Six: Violation of the Right to Financial Records Privacy Act, T.C.A. §8 45-10-101 et seq. (all
Plaintiffsv. Bank); AND Violation of the Financial Privacy Act of 1978, 12 U.S.C.S. § 3401 et seq
(Jerry and Opal Walker v. Bank)

Count Seven: Fraudulent Concealment (all Plaintiffs v. Bank)

6Thetrial court granted summary judgment on the question of whether the federal Act protects the corporate
entity, properly holding that it doesnot. The Walkers concede this issue.
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(2) Does the Tennessee Financial Records Privacy Act, Tenn. Code Ann. 8
45-10-101 et seq., apply to federal agencies, such as the U.S. Department of
Agriculture, which issue subpoenas for bank records?

(3) Doesthe Tennessee Financial Records Privacy Act permit the Defendant
Bank to disclose records of the Plaintiff Corporation to afederal agency such asthe
Department of Agriculture, since the Defendant Bank is not prohibited under the
Federal Right to Financial Privacy Act from making such disclosure?

Standard of Review

All issues presented in this appeal areissues of law. The standard of review for this Court
on issues of law isde novo, with no presumption of correctness afforded to the condusions of the
court below. Bowden v. Ward, 275 S.\W.3d 913, 916 (Tenn. 2000); Tenn. R. App. P. 13(d).

State Court Jurisdiction

Congress enacted the federal Right to Financial Privacy Act, codified at 12 U.S.C.S. § 3401
et seq., in 1978 in response to the holding by the United States Supreme Court in United Statesv.
Miller, 425 U.S. 435, 436 (1976), that bank customers do not have a constitutionally protected
privacy interest in bank records. Neecev. Internal Revenue Service, 922 F.2d 573, 574 (10" Cir.
1990); see Miller, 425 U.S. at 436. The Act seeks to balance the protection of bank records from
unnecessary intrusion while permitting law enforcement agencies access to those recordsfor usein
lawful, legitimate investigations. Neece, 922 F.2d at 557 (quoting H.R. Rep. No. 1383, 95" Cong.,
2d Sess. 33 reprinted in 1978 U.S. Code Cong. & Admin. News 9273, 9305, 9278). The RFPA
permits causes of action to be brought in federal court without regard to theamount in controversy.

The Bank asserts that the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction over causes of action
arising under the Act. The Bank calls our attention to section 3416 of the RFPA, which provides:

An action to enforce any provision of this title may be brought in any appropriate
United States district court without regard to the amount in controversy within three
years from the date on which the violation occurs or the date of discovery of such
violation, whichever islater.

12 U.S.C.S. § 3416 (2002). TheBank arguesthat thisjurisdictional statement, in combinationwith
§ 3410 of the federal Act, which mandates that a motion to quash a subpoena issued by a federal
agency must be brought in an appropriate United States District Court, evidences exclusive federal
court jurisdiction. Asfurther evidence, the Bank points to statements of U.S. District Courts that
jurisdiction over thefederal Actis“vested exclusivelyin Articlelll courts.” See, e.g., McDonough
v. Widnall, 891 F.Supp. 1439, 1448 (D. Colo. 1995). TheBank further submitsthat sincethefederal
Actoperatesasalimited wai ver of thefederal government’ ssovereignimmunity, all actionsbrought
to enforce any of its provisions accordingly must be brought in federal court. We disagree.
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We note at the outset that this cause of action does not include aclaim against the USDA or
any federal officer or agency. The Walkers' complaint names as defendants only Ricky White and
CitizensBank of L afayette, both of which undisputably are subject to general jurisdictionin the State
of Tennessee. Thus issues of the sovereign immunity of the United States, or the waiver thereof,
are not dements of this lawsuit.

Asboth partiesacknowledge, thereisastrong presumption that state courtsretainjurisdiction
concurrent with federal courtsover claimsbrought pursuant tofederal law. Taflinv. Levitt, 493 U.S.
455, 458 (1990). Such state court jurisdiction is limited only by restrictions imposed by the
Supremacy Clauseof the United States Constitution. 1d. State court jurisdiction over federal causes
of action does not arise because it is specifically conferred by Congress. Taflin, 493 U.S. at 469
(Scalia, J., concurring). Rather, such jurisdiction is presumed in the absence of “an affirmative act
of power under the Supremacy Clause to oust the States of jurisdiction” 1d. at 470. State courts
retain concurrent jurisdiction over federal claimsunless Congress deliberately usesits authority to
affirmatively “withdraw” that jurisdiction. Id.

At oral argument, counsel for the Bank directed our attention to the three considerations
enunciated by the U.S. Supreme Court in Gulf Offshore Co. v. Mobil Qil Corp., 453 U.S. 473, 477
(1981), to determine whether Congress intended exclusive federal court jurisdiction over afederal
causeof action. InGulf Offshore, the Court opined, “the presumption of concurrent jurisdiction can
be rebutted by an explicit statutory directive, by unmistakable implication from the legislative
history, or by a clear incompatibility between state-court jurisdiction and federal interests.” Gulf
Offshore 453 U.S. at 477 (holding that state courts have concurrent jurisdiction over personal injury
and indemnity causesof action arising under theOuter Continental Shelf LandsAct (OCSLA)). The
Bank contends that since the RFPA acts as a limited waiver of U.S. sovereignty, state court
jurisdiction over causes of action arising under the Act isincompatible with federal interests.

We disagree with the Bank that state court jurisdiction is either explicitly or implicitly
withdrawn for causes of action arising under the federal Act for threereasons. First, the proposition
that state court jurisdiction can by withdrawn by anything lessthan an explicit statutory directive has
been tempered, if not neutralized, by theU.S. Supreme Court in Taflin and Yellow Freight. Taflin,
493 U.S. a 469-473; Yellow Freight Sys., Inc. v. Donnelly, 494 U.S. 820 (1990). Second, we do
not believe that the jurisdictional section of the RFPA mandates federal court jurisdiction, even
considered in conjunction with 8§ 3410, which provides that a motion to quash a federal subpoena
for documents must be brought in district court. Third, even goplying the criteriaof Gulf Offshore,
we do not believe state court jurisdiction of causes brought under the RFPA areincompatible with
federal interests in cases such asthis, where no agency of the U.S. government is a party.

The proposition that state court jurisdiction over causes of action arising under federal acts
can be withdrawn by anything other than explicit statutory directive has been called into question
by the U.S. Supreme Court in Taflin and Yellow Freight. InTaflin, the Court held that state courts
have concurrent jurisdiction in causes of action arising under the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act (RICO). Taflin, 493 U.S. at 458. Quoting Claflin v. Houseman, 93 U.S. 130,
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136-37 (1876), the Court noted, “if exclusive jurisdiction be neither express nor implied, the State
courts have concurrent jurisdiction whenever, by their own constitution, they are competent to take
it.” Taflin, 493 U.S. at 459. The Taflin Court considered jurisdictional language similar to that of
the RFPA, which provides that a party “may” bring an action “in any appropriate United States
district court.”” Id. at 460. Finding that the grant of federal jurisdiction in the RICO statute was
clearly permissive, the Court further concluded that nothing in the legidative history of the act
indicated that Congress had intended exclusive federal jurisdiction. I1d. at 461. In so holding, the
Court emphasized, “the question is not whether any intent at all may be divined from legislative
silence on the issue, but whether Congressin its deliberations may be said to have affirmativey or
unmistakably intended jurisdiction to be exclusively federd.” Id. at 462 (emphasisadded). The
Court further found no incompatibility between federal interests and concurrent state court
jurisdiction over RICO claims. Id. at 464.

Justice Scaliawrote separately in Taflin, emphasizing the presumption of concurrent state
courtjurisdiction over federal actsand calling into question thethreeel ement cons deration proposed
indictumin Gulf Offshore. Taflin v. Levitt, 493 U.S. 455, 469-473 (1990) (Scalia, J., concurring).
Referencing Alexander Hamilton in The Federalist No. 82, p. 132 (E. Bourne ed. 1947), Justice
Scaliawrote, “it would be eminently arguabl e that depriving state courts of their sovereign authority
to adjudicate the law of the land must be done, if not with theutmost clarity . . . at least expressly.”
Taflin, 493 U.S. at 470. A careful reading of the Court’s opinion in Gulf Offshore evidences that
the presumption of concurrent jurisdiction is not easily overcome. The “clear incompatibility”
between state court jurisdiction and the federal claim referenced by the Court must be so clear asto
be “disabling,” and while federal law is binding on the courts, “subject-matter jurisdiction . . . is
governed in thefirst instance by state laws.” Gulf Offshore Co. v. Mobil Oil Corp., 453 U.S. 473,
477-78 (1981). In Taflin, Justice Scalia further noted that although the Court had stated that
exclusive federd jurisdiction could be found by implication, the only findings of exclusive
jurisdiction by implication have been in causes of action arising under the Sherman Act and the

7The Right to Financial Privacy Act provides:
An action to enforce any provision of this title may be brought in any appropriate United States
district court without regard to the amount in controversy within three years from the date on which
the violation occurs or the date of discovery of such violation, whichever is later.

12 U.S.C.S. § 3416 (2002).
RICO provides:
Any person injured in his business or property by reason of violation of section 1962 of thischapter
may sue therefor in any appropriate United States district court and shall recover threefold the

damages he sustains and the cost of the suit, including a reasonabl e attorney’s fee.

18 U.S.C.S. § 1964(c) (2002).



Clayton Act® Taflin, 493 U.S. at 471. In practice, state court jurisdiction has been found to be
withdrawn only through express recitations such as “‘only’ in federal court” or “jurisdiction of the
federal courts shall be *exclusive.’” Id.

The proposition that state court jurisdiction over acause of action arisingunder afederal act
must be expressly, affirmatively withdrawn by Congress was emphatically emphasized by the U.S.
Supreme Court in Yellow Freight System, Inc. v. Donnelly, 494 U.S. 820 (1990). In Yellow
Freight, the Court analyzed the enforcement provisionsof TitleV1I, which provide: “[€e]ach United
States district court and each United States court of a place subject to the jurisdiction of the United
States shall havejurisdiction of actionsbrought under thistitle.” 42 U.S.C.S. § 2000e-5(f)(3) (1983
ed.). Despite holdings in the federal Courts of Appeals that the federal courts had exclusive
jurisdiction over Title VII causes of action, the Court held that “ Title VII contains no language that
expressly confines jurisdiction to federal courts or ousts state courts of their presumptive
jurisdiction.” Yellow Freight, 494 U.S. at 823. Writing for the Court, Justice Scalia hoted that the
legidlative history of Title VII indicated that many in Congress had anticipated exclusive federal
jurisdiction over claims brought pursuant to the act. I1d. at 824. The Yellow Freight Court held,
however, that this “expectation, even if universaly shared, is not an adequate substitute for a
legislative decision to overcome the presumption of concurrent jurisdiction.” 1d. at 824-25.

We find nothing in the language of the RFPA which either expressly withdraws state court
jurisdiction from, or expressly grants exclusive federal court jurisdiction to, causes of action arising
under the Act. We are aware that some federal courts have referred to the RFPA as being within
the exclusivejurisdiction of thefederal courts. See Raikosv. Bloomfied State Bank, 703 F. Supp.
1365 (1989 SD Ind); McDonough v. Widnall, 891 F. Supp. 1439 (D. Colo. 1995). However, we
note that the opinion in Raikos wasissued in the context of the waiver of sovereign immunity, and
that McDonough addressed whether jurisdiction over a claim brought under the RFPA was proper
in federd court as opposed to military court. These cases are easily distinguishable from the case
at bar, where we arenot called upon to address the i ssue of United States sovereign immunity or the
scopeof jurisdiction of themilitary courts. State court jurisdictionispresumed unlessexpressly and
affirmatively withdrawn by Congress. The language of the RFPA permits parties to bring suit in
federal court, and it allows them to do so without regard to the amount in controversy. It does not
stipulate that the federal courts are the only courts in which jurisdiction is vested. As the Court
stated in Yellow Freight, “[t]he omission of any such express provision is strong, and arguably
sufficient, evidence that Congress had no such intent.” Yellow Freight Sys. Inc. v. Donnéelly, 494
U.S. 820, 823 (1990).

The Bank submits that section 3410 of the RFPA, which providesfor customer challenges
of subpoenas for bank records issued by federal agencies, reflects Congressional intent that
jurisdiction over the RFPA be exclusively federal. We disagree. The procedural methods by which

8Justice White, also writing separately in Taflin, distinguished these acts, noting the “disastrous effect on
interstate commerce, a particular concern of the Federal Government,” which would result from improper interpretation
of the antitrust laws. Taflin, 493 U.S. at 468.
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a customer may challenge a subpoena, summons or written request for financial records issued by
afedera agency are delineated in section 3410 and have been strictly construed by the courts. See,
e.g., Raikos, 703 F.Supp. 1365. Thissection providesthat such amotion to quash asubpoena“shall
be filed in the appropriate United States district court.” 12 U.S.C.S. § 3410. (emphasis added).
Exclusive federal jurisdiction over such amotion is clearly mandatory. This does not, however,
evidence Congressional intent that jurisdiction over other aspects of the RFPA also beexclusively
federd. Thefact that Congress elected to usethe permissive“may” in section 3416, while using the
mandatory “shdl” in section 3410, indicates to us that Congressintended to differentiate between
the actions which must be taken by a customer to challenge a subpoena and the judicial remedies
provided by the RFPA for aleged violations. Thechallengeto thefederal subpoenamust be brought
infederal court. Such achallengeisdistinct from acause of action against afinancial institution for
alleged violations of the Act.

Exclusive federal jurisdiction over some provisions of afederd act is not inconsistent with
concurrent state court jurisdiction over other provisions. InHolmesFinancial Ass nv. Resolution
Trust Corp., 33 F.3d 561 (6™ Cir. 1994), the Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit held that state
courts have concurrent jurisdiction over pre-receivership suits against the Resolution Trust
Corporation (RTC) brought under the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act
(FIRREA), for example, while noting that jurisdiction of post-receiverships suits was arguably
exclusively federal. HolmesFinancial, 33 F.3d at 566 n.5. Likewise, Congressexpressly withdrew
state court jurisdiction for most claimsarising under ERISA, while preservingit for causesof action
brought under subsection (a)(1)(B). 1d. at 565.

The Bank further contends that the Act isuniquely federd in nature and that this “peculiar
statutory nexus’ mandates exclusive federal court jurisdiction. The distinguishing factor of the
RFPA, according to the Bank’ sargument, isthat the sovereignis connected to every violation of the
Act. Wefind no such peculiarity, however, such that there would be any incompatibility between
federal interests and concurrent state court jurisdiction under the Gulf Offshore test. Causes of
action such as this, which adjudicate claims based on substantive federal law, may be adjudicated
in state courts, notwithstanding federal law preemption of state law. Dowd Box Co. v. Courtney,
368 U.S. 502, 507-8 (1962)(holding that the conferral of federal jurisdiction for causes of action
arising under section 301(a) of the Labor Management Relations Act of 1947 does not divest state
courts of jurisdiction).

Asnoted above, no agency of the United Statesisa party tothisaction. TheWalkers' clam
has been brought only against the Bank pursuant to section 3417 of the RFPA, which providesfor
civil penalties for violations of the Act. Section 3417 provides:

(a) Liability of agencies of departments of United States or financial institutions.
Any agency or department of the United States or financial institution obtaining or
disclosing financial records or information contained thereinin violation of thistitle
isliableto the customer to whom such records relate in an amount equal to the sum
of - -



(2) $200 without regard to the volume of records involved;

(2) any actual damagessustained by the customer asaresult of thedisclosure;

(3) such punitive damages as the court may allow, where the violation is
found to have been willful or intentional; and

(4) inthe case of any successful action to enforce liability under this section,
the costs of the action together with reasonabl e attorney’ s fees as determined by the
court.

(d) Exclusivejudicial remediesand sanctions. Theremediesand sanctionsdescribed
inthistitleshall bethe only authorized judicial remediesand sanctionsfor violations
of thistitle.

12 U.S.C.S. § 3417 (2002).

Violations of the RFPA are not offenses against the United States and do not result in
criminal penalties. Thereisnothinginthetext of the RFPA which would indicate any danger to the
interests of the United States which may result from state court jurisdiction over causes of actions
brought againg a bank of that state pursuant to the Act. State courts are presumed competent to
adjudicate such federal acts, and we find no clear or disabling incompatibility between state court
jurisdiction and federal interestsin this case.

The presumption of concurrent statecourt jurisdictionisnot merely “an evidentiary starting
point in determining Congress intent.” Holmes Financial, 33 F.3d at 565 n.4. Concurrent
jurisdiction existsunlessaffirmatively and expressly revoked. Id. Wefind nothing inthe RFPA that
warrantsaberration fromthe* consi stent history of hospitabl e acceptance of concurrent jurisdiction.”
Dowd Box, 368 U.S. at 508. We accordingly hold that state courts have concurrent jurisdiction to
adjudicate causes of action brought against financial institutions by customersfor alleged violations
of the Right to Financial Privacy Act.

Application of the Tennessee Financial Records Privacy Act
to Subpoenas for Bank Records | ssued by Federal Agencies

Tenn. Code Ann. § 45-10-101 et seq., the Financial Records Privacy Act, governs the
disclosure of financial records in Tennessee. The bank submits that federal agencies are not
“persons’ as defined by the Act, and that the Act therefore is not applicable in this case. In the
aternative, it argues that even if the definition of “person” for purposes of the Act did include a
federal agency, the State has no jurisdiction over afedera subpoena. The Bank submits that the
State therefore cannot “ permit” disclosure pursuant to a State act. Aswe understand it, the Bank’s
contention isthat the field is preempted by thefederal Act, and that the Tennessee Act would have
no application to any disclosure made pursuant to a federal subpoena, regardiess of whether that
subpoenawas valid.



We first turn to the provisions of the Tennessee statute. When interpreting a statute, this
Court’s primary objective is to effectuate the purpose of the legislature. Lipscomb v. Doe, 32
S.W.3d 840, 844 (Tenn. 2000). Insofar aspossible, theintent of thelegis ature should be determined
by the natural and ordinary meaning of the words used in the statute, and not by a construction that
isforced or which limitsor extendsthemeaning. Id. Itisaxiomaticthat thefirst stepininterpreting
astatute isto ook to the express provisions of the statute itself. Section 103 (10) of the Tennessee
Act provides:

Permissible acts. -- The following acts are expressly permitted by, but are not
otherwise subject to, the provisions of this chapter:

(20) the furnishing of information or recordsto any federal officer or agency
as long as furnishing such information is not prohibited by the federal Right to
Financial Privacy Act of 1978.

Tenn. Code Ann. 45-10-103(10)(Supp. 2001).

Sinceitisundisputed that disclosure of therecordsof corporatecustomerstofederal agencies
isnot prohibited by thefederal Act, disclosure of the corporation’ srecordsto afederal agency isnot
controlled by the Tennessee statute. Likewise, the disclosure of an individual customer’s records
toafederal agency isnot controlled by the Tennessee Act aslong as such disclosureisnot prohibited
by thefederal Act. Weread thisprovision asproperly recognizing that disclosure pursuant to avalid
federal subpoenais governed by the federal Act, and expressly is “not otherwise subject to” the
Tennessee Act.

We next turn to whether a customer may bring a cause of action pursuant to the Tennessee
Act when disclosure to afederal agency isin fact prohibited by the RFPA. To the extent that the
Tennessee Act conflictswith federal law, it would be preempted under the Supremacy Clauseof the
United States Constitution, art. 6, clause 2. See In re Grand Jury Subpoena, 688 F.Supp. 319
(W.D. Tenn. 1988) (holding that to the extent that the Tennessee Act conflicts with the bank’s
obligations to comply with the command of a federal grand jury, it isinvalid under the Supremacy
Clause); Securities and Exch. Comm’'n v. First Tennessee Bank N.A., 445 F.Supp. 1341 (W.D.
Tenn 1978). Where there is no conflict between the federal Act and the Tennessee Act a cause of
action could be adjudicated under the Tennessee statute.

As the Bank submits, however, the quegtion arises as to whether the Tennessee statute
encompasses disclosure made to federal agencies. The Tennessee Act provides:

Requisitesfor disclosure - - Effect of disclosure. - - (a) Except as providedin §
45-10-103, a financid ingitution may not disclose to any person, except to the
customer or the customer’s agent, any financia records relating to the customer
unless. ...
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Tenn. Code Ann. § 45-10-104(a)(2000)(emphasis added). For purposes of this Act, “person” is
defined as:

Any individual, partnership, corporation, association, trust or any other legal entity
organized under the law of this state, including any department or agency of this
state, any county or municipal corporation located in this state, and any court of this
state or of the United States.

Tenn. Code Ann. § 45-10-102(7)(2000).° Thusafederd agency isnot aperson to whom disclosure
is controlled by the Tennessee Act. The Walkers contend that, notwithstanding the definitional
restrictions, the fact that disclosure to afedera agency pursuant to a valid subpoenais expressly a
permissible act under Tenn. Code Ann. 8§ 45-10-103(8) requires aholding that compliance with a
subpoena which isinvalid on its face is accordingly a violation of the Tennessee Act. While we
recognize the logic of the Wdkers argument, we note that the legislature clearly considered
instances of disclosure pursuant to a federal agency subpoena It expressly provided for such
disclosure in section 103(8) of the Tennessee Act. The legislature expresdy did not, however,
include federal agenciesin section 102(7), which controls to whom the Act isapplicable. We may
not extend the Act’ s application beyond that intended by the legislature. We accordingly hold that
the Walkers' do not have a cause of action under the Tennessee Financial Records Privacy Act
againg the Bank for disclosure of records pursuant to a subpoenaissued by afederal agency, even
assuming, arguendo, the subpoenawasinvdid asthe Wakersallege. The Walkers' cause of action
is controlled by the provisions of the federal Right to Financial Privacy Act.

Conclusion

Inlight of theforegoing, we hold that state courts retain concurrent jurisdiction to adjudicate
causes of action against defendant financia institutions brought pursuant to the federal Right to
Financial Privacy Act of 1978, 12 U.S.C.S. § 3401 et seq. Federal courtjurisdictionisexclusiveto
12 U.S.C.S. 8 3410 motions to quash federal subpoenas. We further hold that in Tennessee, the
disclosureof financial recordsto federal agenciesiscontrolled by thefederal RFPA. The Tennessee
Financial Records Privacy Act, Tenn. Code Ann. 8 45-10-101 et seq., does not govern disclosures
made to federal agencies, which are not “persons’ to whom disclosure is controlled by the State
statute.

We affirm the order of the trial court denying Bank’s motion for summary judgment. This
caseisremanded for further proceedings consi stent with thisopinion. Costsof thisappeal aretaxed
one-half each to the Appd lees, Jerry Wa ker and wife, Opal Waker, and Waker & Assoc. Redty,

9As noted, disclosure pursuant to a federal grand jury subpoena hasbeen held to be preempted by the RFPA.
In reGrand Jury Subpoena, 688 F. Supp. 319 (W.D. Tenn. 1988).
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Inc., f/k/aCentury 21 Walker & Assoc., Inc., and the Appellant, Citizens Bank of Lafayette, and its
surety, for which execution may issue if necessary.

DAVID R. FARMER, JUDGE
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